RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2019AP001573

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

PATRICK A. KELLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND AN ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION
MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WAUKESHA COUNTY
THE HONORABLE LEE S. DREYFUS PRESIDING
WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 16-CF-449

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Bradley J. Lochowicz (State Bar No. 1037739)

LOCHOWICZ & VENEMA LLP
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

11 1/2 N. Wisconsin Street P.O. Box 20 Elkhorn, WI 53121-0470

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING THE CHILD ABUSE REPORTS AS NON-TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY SUBJECT TO THE BUSINESS RECORDS EXCEPTIONS.

Trial Court answered: No.

II. DID THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE KELLERS ACCUSER VIOLATE HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION.

Trial Court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes that the briefs will fully present and meet the issues on appeal and will fully develop the theories and legal authority governing the issues, and therefore oral argument would be of little value to the court as the law applicable to this case is already well settled.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is a discretionary determination that will be upheld on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Whittemore, 166 Wis.2d 127, 136, 479 N.W.2d 566, 571 (Ct. App. 1991). While "a circuit court's decision to admit evidence is ordinarily a matter for the court's discretion, whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right of confrontation is a question of law subject to independent appellate review."

State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, P17, 350 Wis.2d 138, 151,
834 N.W.2d 362, 369 (quoting State v. Williams, 2002 WI 58,
P7, 253 Wis.2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919, 924.)

STATEMENT OF CASE/FACTS

Keller was charged with three counts of Causing Mental Harm to a Child, as party to a crime, contrary to sections 948.04(1), 939.50(3)(f), and 939.05, Stats. (R22:1-3) Prior to the commencement of trial, the State filed a motion seeking admission of child protective service records as non-testimonial business records. (R26:1)(A:15) Keller objected claiming that the evidence was testimonial hearsay evidence which violated Keller's right to confrontation. (R37:1-2)(A:22-23) On June 23, 2017, the trial court held a hearing on this motion. (R134:2) The court issued an oral ruling on August 3, 2017 granting the State's motion. (R135:3)(A:47) The child protective service records, but not the identity of the reporter were admitted at trial.

With regard to the child protective service records the state presented testimony from current and former employees of the Waukesha County Department of Health and Human Services.

At trial, Kathy Mullooly, a manager at Health and Human Services testified. (R142:33-34) She explained to the jury that one of the responsibilities of her department was to complete access reports. (R142:35) She informed the jury that reports are reports that are generated individuals call into the department regarding concerns for a child's well-being. (R142:35) Mullooly testified that access reports are completely confidential. (R142:36) She explained to the jury the process that her department goes through in gathering information and completing the access reports. (R142:41-42) She indicated that a report completed on December 7, 2012, related to this case, was completed in the manner she described. (R142:41)

Mullooly then testified to a January 9, 2013 report taken in this case. (R142:42) She indicated that the report appeared to be taken in the same manner as her department processes access reports. (R142:41-43) Mullooly stated that the department also processed reports in a similar fashion for the dates January 30, 2013, February 12, 2013 and August 1, 2013. (R142:43) She indicated the same occurred with regard to two additional reports taken on June 12, 2014, a report from September 4, 2014, September 16, 2014 and December 5,

2014. (R142:44-45) All these reports related to the allegations made against Keller in this case.

The state's next witness was Bobbi Borchardt, another supervisor at Health and Human Services. (R142:58) testified that she was the access worker who took the reports dated December 7, 2012, January 9, 2013, January 30, 2013, February 12, 2013, August 1, 2013, June 12, 2014, and September 4, 2014. (R142:57) She testified to the information she received from the individual(s) who reported concerns regarding the treatment and care of A.M. (R142:59-65) Borchardt admitted that she was not the worker who took information from a reporter related to the December 7, 2012 report. (R142:71) Trial counsel asked Borchardt the identity of the reporter for the December 7, 2012 report and Borchardt would not disclose the identity because she indicated the identity was confidential under state law. (R142:72) She further testified that she did not remember the identity of any of the reporters. (R142:72)

Kris Borkowski, a social worker with Waukesha County Human Services, then testified for the state. (R142:76) She indicated that her current duties are to take reports of child abuse or neglect from individuals. (R142:77) She testified

Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 8 of 27

that she took two of the reports from reporters in this case. (R142:78) Borkowski testified that those reports were taken in the ordinary course of business for the Human Services Department. (R142:71-72) She then informed the jury as to the information she received from the callers related to the reports. (R142:72-89)

The state then called Sarah Vargas, an access supervisor with Waukesha County Health and Human Services. (R143:9) Vargas testified specifically to the reports identified as exhibits 3, 4, 6 and 7. (R143:15) She informed the jury that those reports were completed according to the procedures adopted by Human Services. (R143:15-16) Vargas testified that she was the individual who took the January 30, 2013 report. (R143:17) She testified to the information she received from the caller that formed the basis of the report. (R143:18-23)

Vargas provided further testimony related to the February 12, 2013 report. (R143:23) Vargas testified that she did not author the report or take the call from any individual that formed the basis the report. (R143:23-24) She then told the jury what was documented in this report. (R143:24-27) Vargas acknowledged that she was not the supervisor on this report. (R143:27)

The state then shifted to the June 12, 2014 report. (R143:27) Vargas stated that she was the supervisor for the report, but not the access worker who took the June 12 report. (R143:27) She then testified as to the information that was documented in the report. (R143:29-32)

The state's next witness was Kathryn Flansburg, an employee with Human Services who completes access reports as part of her responsibilities. (R143:55) She testified as to how those reports are completed. (R143:55-56) Flansburg indicated that she was the access worker who completed the reports identified as exhibits 5 and 10. (R143:56) She testified to the contents of those reports. (R143:57-74) The access reports were admitted into evidence at trial.

On January 26, 2018, Keller was found guilty by jury of all charges. Keller filed a post-conviction motion raising, in part, the issues he now raises on appeal. The trial court denied his motion. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CHILD ABUSE REPORTS WERE TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY NOT SUBJECT TO THE BUSINESS RECORD EXCEPTION AND THE COURT ALLOWING ADMISSION OF THE SAME WAS IMPROPER.

The State argued that the reports taken by the social workers with regard to the alleged child abuse or neglect

Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 10 of 27

fall within the business-record exception to the hearsay rule. This exception is set forth in section 889.25, Stats.

In order for an entry in the business record to be admissible, all declarants involved in making the specific entry record must be part of the organization which prepared it. If one of the declarants is not part of the organization, an additional level of hearsay is present which must fall into an exception. See State v. Gilles, 173 Wis.2d 101, 496 N.W.2d 133 (Ct. App. 1992). In this scenario of a corporation, if an employee of the corporation sets forth in a document made in the course of regularly conducted activity what he saw and did at a meeting, the "business records" exception would allow for the introduction of that information. However, if that same employee sets forth what a person, who is not a member of the corporation, said at that same meeting, the statement of that person is not admissible unless some other hearsay exception applies. The "business records" exception does not allow admission of a second level of hearsay without an additional exception to the hearsay rule. The reports cannot establish more than their maker could if he was testifying in court on their subject. See Mitchell v. State, 84 Wis.2d 325, 330, 267 N.W.2d 349, 352 (1978).

Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 11 of 27

the State's witnesses who testified to the statements made by the reporter(s) in this case did not imply or establish that the reporter(s) were making reports from within the Human Services Department. The Statements made by any reporter to CPS workers fall outside of the business record exception and are inadmissible.

Further, CPS reports are similar to police reports in that said reports are investigative tools created in anticipated of litigation. When the reports are created by Human Services, they are created with the knowledge that they may provide the basis and be relied upon for the filing of CHIPS, JIPS, TPR or criminal proceedings. As a result, documents created in anticipation of litigation cannot fall under the business records exception. See <u>State v. Williams</u>, 253 Wis.2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919 (2002).

II. FAILURE OF THE STATE TO DISCLOSE KELLER'S ACCUSOR VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION.

Wisconsin statute section 48.981, Stats., governs the confidentiality of child or neglect reports in the state of Wisconsin. Under that statute, reports are to remain confidential but may be disclosed to certain parties. Pursuant to section 48.981(7) provides in part:

(7) CONFIDENTIALITY.

- (a) All reports made under this section, notices provided under sub.(3)(bm) and records maintained by an agency and other persons, officials and institutions shall be confidential. Reports and records may be disclosed only to the following persons:
- 1. The subject of a report, except that the person or agency maintaining the record or report may not disclose any information that would identify the reporter...
- ...3m. A child's parent, guardian, or legal custodian or the expectant mother of an unborn child, except that the person or agency maintaining the record or report may not disclose any information that would identify the reporter...
- ...8. A law enforcement officer or law enforcement agency or a district attorney for purposes of investigation or prosecution.

Section 48.981(7), Stats.

Wisconsin courts have not decided the issue regarding whether a defendant's right to confrontation is violated when the District Attorney submits into evidence at trial child abuse reports but fails to disclose the identity of the accuser or complainant involving said reports. In Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, the United States Supreme Court ruled that a defendant is not entitled to access confidential child abuse reports. Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987). However, the Ritchie court determined that due process requires that a court undertake an *in camera*

inspection of the file to determine whether it contains material exculpatory evidence. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39. issue facing Keller, however, is much different than the facts in issue the United States Supreme Court was asked to decide Ritchie only answers the question as to whether a defendant is entitled to confidential child abuse reports, it does not answer whether a defendant is entitled to the identity of his or her accuser or complainant where the State discloses and uses the confidential child abuse records. Thus, while the confrontation clause does not require a defendant's access to confidential child abuse reports, it is Keller's contention that if the State intends to submit said reports at the time of trial and elicit testimony from said reports, the confrontation clause requires the State to disclose the identity of the accuser or complainant. To the extent that Keller's attorney failed to preserve this argument he was ineffective.

By statute the, the confidentiality of the child abuse or neglect reports remain confidential absent certain exceptions set forth within the statutes. Section 48.981(7), Stats. It is clear that the statutes allow disclosure of the child abuse or neglect reports to the District Attorney's

Office for purposes of prosecution. Section 48.981(7)(a) 8, Unlike limited restrictions placed on disclosures, including disclosures to the subject of a report, or parent of a child, there are no limitations on the disclosure of information to the District Attorney's Office. See section 48.981(7)(a) 8, Stats. Further, there is nothing limiting the ability of the District Attorney's Office to disclose the contents or all information related to said reports by statute. Id. This is consistent with the Wisconsin Attorney General's opinion in response to inquiry from a District Attorney in August of 1993 where said District Attorney requested an opinion as to whether a District Attorney may reveal the contents of a report made under section 48.981, Stats., in the course of the criminal prosecution. 81 Atty. Gen. 66. There, the Attorney General opined that the provisions of section 48.918(7), Stats., do not require that the report or the identity of the reporter remain confidential during a criminal prosecution where the contents of said reports have already been disclosed to the District Attorney's Office. Id. Therefore, the District Attorney's Office is not required to conceal information that would identify the reporter or otherwise keep the information in the report confidential under said circumstances. <u>Id</u>. The Attorney General goes on further to indicate that in some cases the law may require disclosure of the reporter's identity where the child is to be a witness in the court proceeding and the child has given a statement to the reporter about the incident which causes the reporter to act. <u>Id</u>. It was further set forth by the Attorney General that a District Attorney could protect the identity of a reporter whenever it can be done without impairing the District Attorney's ability to present its case at trial. <u>Id</u>.

The Attorney General also indicated in its opinion that the confidentiality provisions governing section 48.981(7), Stats., apply to the entire report, not just to the identity of the reporter or of the mandatory reporter. Id. Thus, the entire report is to be treated as confidential by a District Attorney unless the information is to be used during a criminal prosecution. Id. Thus, the Attorney General noted that when the District Attorney was fulfilling its duties, all the information contained report can be revealed to the plain court pursuant to the language of section 48.981(7)(a)10, Stats. Id. Thus, the Attorney General recognized that it was likely that the information was going Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 16 of 27

to be disclosed to the court during the criminal proceedings would be provided to all parties in the action. Id.

The Attorney General was clear that the statute does not prohibit or restrict the District Attorney's use of the information that it receives from any agency. <u>Id</u>. It was noted in the Attorney General's opinion that the District Attorney could not bring criminal charges unless the statutes exempted this type of activity and the confidentiality requirements during criminal prosecutions because they are of public record. <u>Id</u>.

The opinion further indicates that a District Attorney, where he or she determines that the information received from the reporter is unnecessary to the effective presentation of a case and not exculpatory, that the office should further the policy of the statutes by protecting a reporter's identity. Id. The Attorney General did note that a prosecutor should protect the identity of the reporter, where able, as long as said protection does not undermine the District Attorney's ability to carry out its duties. Id.

Here, various social workers were able to testify to the contents of not only the reports admitted at trial, but the specific allegations and information provided by the Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 17 of 27

reporter/accuser. The information and allegations that could be relied upon for Keller's conviction in this matter were generated by the protected complainant/accuser. To allow witnesses to testify to statements and information made by an accuser in an unrestricted manner violated Keller's right to confrontation. This is especially true where the reliability or truthfulness of the reporter cannot be ascertained. "The confrontation clause of the United States and Wisconsin Constitution's guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront witnesses against them." State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, p13, 299 Wis.2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518. The confrontation clause "bars admission of an out-of-court-testimonial statement unless the declarant is unavailable and the defendant has had a prior opportunity to examine with respect to the statement." Jensen, 2007 WI 26, p15, 299 Wis.2d at 278-279, 727 N.W.2d at 524. "[A] statement is testimonial if a reasonable person in the position of a declarant would objectively foresee that his statement might be used in the investigation or prosecution of a crime." Jensen, 2007 WI 26, p25, 299 Wis.2d at 285, 727 N.W.2d at 527. "[W]hether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of law." Id. In determinating whether Keller's right to confrontation was violated, this court must first determine whether the reporter's statements are admissible under the rules of evidence. State v. Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, P41, 254 Wis.2d 502, 526, 648 NW.2d 367, 379. Next, the court must determine whether the admission of the statement by the complainant/accuser violated Keller's right to confrontation.

The State argued that the accuser's statements were non-testimonial and therefore admissible. Keller's attorney objected to the accuser's statements as hearsay. The trial court concluded that the statements were non-testimonial and allowed numerous witnesses to testify to the statements made by the accuser/complainant without limitation.

It is true that not all hearsay implicates the confrontation clause, only that which is testimonial.

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. at 51. Typically,

"testimony" is typically "[a] solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." Id. Testimonial statements can be characterized by three various formulations:

1. "[E]x parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent-that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-

Case 2019AP001573 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-13-2020 Page 19 of 27

examine, or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially." Crawford, at 51.

- 2. "[E]xtra judicial statements...contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions." Crawford. 541 U.S. at 51-52.
- 3. "[S]tatments that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 52.

Under any of these situations, the court was able to indicate that "[w]hatever else the term [testimonial] covers, that applies that a minimum to prior testimony a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or a former trial; and to police interrogations." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. These, the court wrote, represent "the modern practices with closest kinship to the abuses at which the confrontation clause was directed." Id.

An accuser who makes a formal statement to government officers bares testimony in a sense that a person who makes a causal remake to an acquaintance does not. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51. The Supreme Court in Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813 (2006) addressed the definition of testimonial in the context of a statement given to a law enforcement officer. The court adopted a "primary purpose" test for analyzing

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