Filed 06-25-2020

Page 1 of 40

RECEIVED 06-25-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT II

#### Case No. 2019AP1573-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK A. KELLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE LEE. S. DREYFUS, JR. AND LAURA F. LAU, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

# I. Even if the trial court erred in admitting the CPS records as business records under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6), such error was harmless.

In this case, the State concedes that the trial court erred in admitting the CPS records under the business record exception set forth in Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6).<sup>5</sup> However, Keller is not entitled to a new trial. Because of the overwhelming untainted evidence showing Keller's guilt, any error was harmless.

#### A. Legal principles regarding harmless error.

An erroneous admission of evidence is subject to harmless-error analysis, which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Monahan*, 2018 WI 80, ¶ 31, 383 Wis. 2d 100, 913 N.W.2d 894.

For an error to be harmless, the party benefitting from the error must demonstrate that it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There are three parts to the CPS reports: (1) the mandatory reporters or anonymous callers who make the call, (2) the content of those calls, and (3) the actions that CPS took as a result of the call. While portions of the CPS reports (e.g. statements of CPS staff that document their observations at the premises and child's condition) might be admissible as a *public record* under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(8)(a) and (b) because they document "the activities of the office" and "matters observed pursuant to duty imposed by law," those portions of the reports that contain the contents of statements made by anonymous callers or mandatory reporters (who are not available to testify) are hearsay within hearsay under Wis. Stat. § 908.05, and would not be admitted for hearsay purposes under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(8)(c) when the State offers them in a criminal case.

96, ¶ 45, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (quoting *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)).

When considering whether the erroneous admission of evidence is harmless, the following seven factors, among others, assist the Court's analysis: (1) the frequency of the error; (2) the importance of the erroneously admitted absence evidence: (3)the presence or of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence; (4) whether the erroneously admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence; (5) the nature of the defense; (6) the nature of the State's case; and (7) and the overall strength of the State's case. Martin, 343 Wis. 2d 278, ¶ 46.

# B. The jury still would have convicted Keller of mental harm to a child as PTAC.

Applying the seven harmless-error factors below, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found Keller guilty absent the error.

> 1. The CPS records did not affect the verdict because they were not important the given presence of corroborating evidence and thev duplicated untainted evidence.

The State concedes that the first harmless-error factor weighs in Keller's favor because the frequency of the error was common. But the remaining six factors demonstrate that the error in admitting the CPS records did not affect the verdicts.

Factors 2-4 of the harmless error test tilt in the State's favor. With respect to these factors, the CPS records were not important because of the presence of the corroborating, untainted evidence, much of it duplicative. This evidence includes testimony from Lutheran Social Services, medical experts, law enforcement officers, employees at A.M.'s

Filed 06-25-2020

daycare, employees at A.M.'s middle school, A.M.'s half-sister and grandmother, and A.M.'s adoptive mother.

#### a. Testimony from Lutheran Social Services.

Luther Social Services (LSS) employees Maria Dean and Amanda Smith provided untainted direct evidence that corroborated and duplicated the CPS records, thereby diminishing any importance to the records. Both employees had direct observation of the Keller's house and provided more compelling testimony than the duplicative information in the CPS records.

Dean testified that she worked for LSS in the children's long-term support program unit that included meeting with Alicyn twice a year,<sup>6</sup> and one additional visit. (R. 142:97, 102, 106.) When Dean initially went inside Keller's house in New Berlin, she documented that A.M.'s things were "very separate from everybody else." (R. 142:107.) While "the rest of the home was very child friendly," where A.M. "was at there were boxes stacked and a metal cot on the floor with a curtain across." (R. 142:107.)

Dean also read from her LSS reports that are distinct and independent from the CPS records. (R. 142:108.) In one report, Alicyn spoke to Dean about accusations being made against her at A.M.'s school. (R. 142:109.) The police had been called "for different reasons," and the school reported that A.M. "had discoloration in her face." (R. 142:110.) The school had complained about how A.M. was sent to school "with feces

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dean explained that this was required through the Statefunded program "waiver," which is for autistic children. The goal of waiver (which is a voluntary program) is "to keep the child safe in the home and prevent institutionalization." (R. 142:103.) Services are provided and those who participate are provided with funding that goes towards services for the child. (R. 143:8.)

Filed 06-25-2020

in her pants." (Id.) In another report, Dean documented a conversation that she had with Alicyn about A.M.'s speciallydesigned jumpsuits. (R. 142:112.) According to Dean, A.M. wore a "closed ankle jumpsuit" zipped in the back, so there was no way that she could unzip it. (Id.) It was made of a "jean material," and the purpose of it was "to prevent children attempting to access their feces and digging in them." (Id.) According to Dean, Alicyn wanted new, replacement jumpsuits. (R. 142:113.) Dean, however, "felt that the jumpsuits were a danger to [A.M.]" (R. 142:118.) While she recognized that the purpose of the jumpsuit was so A.M. could not access her feces, Dean explained that it was mid-summer, the jumpsuits were thick, and A.M. "could not get out of" them. (R. 143:12; 142:118.) Dean was afraid A.M. would get "too hot and something bad would happen to her." (R. 142:118.) Alicyn's request for new jumpsuits was ultimately denied. (R. 142:120.)

Dean testified about home visits she made on June 19 and 27, 2014. (R. 142:119, 121.) In the first visit, Alicyn felt that the vice principal of A.M.'s school had been harassing the family because the "[p]olice have been called for discoloration on [A.M.'s] face." (R. 142:120.) Dean and her supervisor arrived at Kellers' for the second visit to find that behind the curtain was where A.M. slept, on a metal cot next to storage bins. (R. 142:122.)

By September 2014, the Kellers' had moved to a new 3bedroom home in Brookfield, moving A.M. to the basement. (R. 142:125.) Dean read her notes to the jury about mildew and the lack of a bathroom and an adequate fire exit from the basement room:

[Alicyn] explained that the basement has too much mildew for the other girls, but [A.M.] will live down there. There is not a second door if needed for a fire exit. She's also not allowed to access the bathroom. [A.M.] is in the jumpsuits that don't allow her access to the bathroom. [A.M.] is not changed and has to go to school with a dirty diaper every day.

(*Id.*) Dean noted "[t]he smell of mildew and mold was very strong" in the basement. (R. 142:129.) The floor was concrete, and A.M. had a metal cot to sleep on. (*Id.*) There was a folded blanket on it. (R. 142:130.) The furnace and hot water heater were exposed. (*Id.*) The basement also had a laundry chute which, Alicyn told Dean's supervisor, is how "the other little girls would talk to [A.M.]" (*Id.*) Alicyn told Dean that "[A.M.] would not get up from her cot without permission. [Alicyn] would then give her permission to get up and talk to the sisters through the laundry chute." (R. 142:130.)

The next day, on September 16, 2014 Dean called the access line at CPS. (R. 143:45.)

Dean also testified about a meeting at A.M.'s middle school in December 2014. (R. 142:131.) The school scheduled the meeting to discuss potty training and A.M. repeatedly coming to school with feces on her, once with a blowout in which A.M.'s feces were "all the way up her back." (R. 142:59, 131–33.)

Dean informed the jury about when A.M. was removed from the home in March 2015, which happened shortly after the police executed a search warrant in the Kellers' home in Brookfield. (R. 142:132.) Dean's supervisor had received a voicemail from Alicyn, who was "very upset." (R. 142:133.) Alicyn no longer wanted any involvement with Waukesha County and "[s]he does not want [A.M.] any longer. She is willing to put her in foster care and will not have anything to do with her again." (*Id.*)

Smith also worked for LSS during the relevant timeframe, and she worked with Dean as a parent coach and as a family support specialist. (R. 143:62.) Smith testified that in the summer of 2014, Alicyn and Keller told her that they did not want people in the house, not even professionals. (R.

143:69.) Smith also testified that when the Kellers moved to Brookfield, Smith was upset that that they used the third bedroom as a playroom, and not as bedroom for A.M. (R. 143:82.) Smith wanted "[A.M.] to be safe, for her to be entertained at a developmental level, for her to have interaction, positive interactions with her family, including her siblings and her mother. My intention was for [A.M.] to live in a safe space." (R. 143:124.) But Alicyn told Smith that "they didn't want [A.M.] to be upstairs in that third bedroom." (R. 143:122.) To the Kellers, "it was clearly off limits that [A.M.] would live upstairs." (R. 143:124.)

Alicyn informed Smith that A.M. would eat dinner in the basement. (R. 143:86.) Smith, who saw the basement "on a couple of occasions," testified that it was unfinished, with no toys. (R. 143:89, 95, 101.) A.M. slept on an "army cot," and "at one point there weren't blankets" on the cot. (R. 143:96, 101.)

From the time they moved into the Brookfield house in September of 2014, Alicyn told Smith that A.M. was not allowed to use the bathroom at the house. (R. 143:96–97.) In January of 2015, Smith talked to Alicyn about letting A.M. have access to a bathroom, but Alicyn told Smith she was not hopeful it would ever happen. (R. 143:97.) Smith testified that she made three CPS access reports in a 9-month period because she "didn't feel that [A.M.'s] needs were being met or – and/or I felt that she was unsafe in her environment." (R. 143:98.)

When asked about two specific CPS reports (State's Exhibits 9 and 81)<sup>7</sup>, Smith testified that she and Dean were the confidential reporters. (R. 143:26, 101.) Smith testified, "Because I was a mandated reporter I was collecting what I thought was -- I was documenting what I thought was

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  Smith was a confidential caller of *three* access reports, but there was no exhibit for one of those reports. (R. 143:97, 109.)

evidence of that at one point may turn to abuse and neglect." (R. 143:126.)

#### b. Testimony from employees at A.M.'s daycare and middle school.

April Bolan, who was the center director of A.M.'s daycare in New Berlin, testified about A.M.'s routine at daycare: after putting her things away, A.M. would use the restroom by herself. (R. 144:123–24.) Sometimes A.M. would have accidents, but once she got into her routine "they became far and few in between." (R. 144:124.)

Karin Steinke, who was a special education teacher at A.M.'s middle school in 2014 and 2015, testified that in September of 2014, A.M. came to school with some scratches on her face and neck. (R. 145:126.) According to Steinke, "it looked like [A.M. and Alicyn] obviously had had a struggle, and Alicyn was very upset" and "called it a blowout" because A.M. "had pooped in her pants in the car on the way to school, and . . . asked if we would take her and clean her up." (R. 145:127.) Steinke told Alicyn she would get supplies for *Alicyn* to clean A.M. (R. 145:128.) Alicyn looked shocked at this response. (*Id.*) A.M. and Alicyn then went into a bathroom for a long time, and Steinke could hear them both crying. (*Id.*) Steinke was "taken aback" with Alicyn's conduct, because "I didn't see any sort of nurturing there." (R. 145:129–30.)

Steinke also testified that there were days when A.M. would come to school with a soiled pullup. (R. 145:130–31.) There were times when A.M. had "dried feces on her clothing." (R. 145:133.) Often, feces were on her socks or on her pants. (*Id.*) But *during* school, Steinke testified, A.M. "never" soiled herself. (R. 145:131, 133.) Steinke also testified from notes that she took during the school year. (R. 145:139, 143.) On December 5, 2014, A.M. came to school with diarrhea, "and it was from up in her hair all the way into her shoes, all down her back, and it had soaked through her clothing." (R. 145:139.)

# c. Testimony from medical experts and law enforcement.

Dr. Angela Rabbitt, a board-certified child abuse pediatrician, provided a case review on A.M. (R. 144:17-19.) Rabbitt testified that she "was asked in this case to review medical records and talk about the association between encopresis<sup>8</sup> and potential maltreatment." (R. 144:77-78.) Rabbitt noted from a November 2013 therapist report, that when A.M. was with her biological father and grandfather on weekends, that "there were no complaints about stooling," and that A.M. "was not having accidents" when she was with them. (R. 144:46.) In a December of 2013 GI clinic report, Alicyn reported to a provider that she has to take A.M. out of the house to a department store to change her pullup. (R. 144:47.) Rabbitt testified, "when you repeatedly see these different accounts of what's happening in one home versus another, that's -- that's an indication that there's something happening in one of the environments that's leading to the increased problems in that environment." (R. 144:48.) She continued: "Based on the evaluation by urology and on the gastroenterologist, this did not appear to be a *medical* situation for this child.... [B]ased on the difference in reports of incontinence between locations, that it was situational and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Rabbitt testified that "[e]ncopresis is incontinence of stool" that is a majority of the time in children is caused by constipation where "quite often, [] there's some withholding of stool; so for whatever reason, the child doesn't have a bowel movement, then the stool kind of backs up inside the colon, and you get a very large, hard mass of stool that's very difficult and painful for the child to pass." (R. 144:38–39.)

Filed 06-25-2020

*behavioral*, and likely the result of some stress and trauma that was occurring."<sup>9</sup> (R. 144:53 (emphasis added).)

The State then asked the following questions to Dr. Rabbitt:

Q Would keeping a child in a basement with very little interaction with the child's children [sic] be a source of trauma for a young, autistic child?

A Yes.

Q Would keeping a child in the basement and not allowing the child to use the restroom at all to defecate, would that be a source of trauma for a child?

A Yes.

Q Would refusing to allow a child in a basement to come upstairs and interact with his or her siblings, would that be a source of trauma?

A Yes.

Q Would sending a child to school with dried feces on the back and hair, would that be a source -- could that be a source of trauma for a child?

A Yes.

Q Would the calling of names of Stinky or Butt Goo repeatedly by siblings, could that be a source of trauma for an autistic child?

A Yes.

(R. 144:54–55.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Dr. Rabbitt similarly testified on cross-examination, "the difference there tells me that she is capable of controlling her bowel or bladder." (R. 144:86.)

On cross-examination, Rabbitt testified: "Once [A.M.'s] in foster care, it seems to improve significantly; so it seems hard to believe that there's any source of trauma within that foster care system, if she's continually getting better within that environment." (R. 144:58.)

Dr. Rolan Manos, a psychologist, testified that he conducted an evaluation of A.M. in May of 2015 in order "to offer an opinion to the Court whether [A.M.] had been emotionally damaged due to the behavior of" Keller and Alicyn. (R. 145:54, 62, 63.) Manos noted that "there was no social stimulation" for A.M. (R. 145:72.) "There was no contact when she was down in the basement with half-sisters, mother, or step-father." (*Id.*) For A.M., Manos testified, "it must have been devastating." (R. 145:73.) Such lack of stimulation can affect an autistic child's ability to develop intellectually, emotionally, and socially. (*Id.*)

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